1959

## In Re Grant MacFarlane, Sr. : Brief of Petitioner

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Wilda Gail Swan died, without issue and unmarried, in 1952, at the age of 62. From 1944 until her death, petitioner was her lawyer and her friend. He represented her in numerous business transactions relating to her various properties in Salt Lake City. (R. 116).

In 1947, at her request, petitioner drafted her Last Will and Testament, in which he was named as one of the beneficiaries. In 1950, at her request, he drafted a codicil and, in 1951, a second codicil. The will, as modified by the second codicil, remained unchanged until her death. (R. 386).

When the first codicil was executed in 1950, it provided no additional bequest to Mr. Macfarlane, except



upon the contingency of the death of Miss Swan's father, who was its principal beneficiary and residual legatee. Mr. Swan's death in 1950 resulted in a substantial increase in the petitioner's share of the testamentary estate. This share, however, was substantially reduced by the second codicil, executed in April, 1951.

After her father's death, Gail's sole heir was her sister, Theo Hendee, of San Francisco, with whom Gail maintained a somewhat hostile, tempestuous and unpredictable relationship. (R. 245, 312, 319). Theo had received downtown business properties from her grandfather and her mother (R. 242) and Gail repeatedly told her tax advisor and friend that Theo was amply provided for and she did not intend to "leave her very much" (R. 312).

She had completely different intentions about Mr. Macfarlane (R. 312). He had suffered a detached retina of the left eye in 1946. Later he lost the center vision in that eye and in 1950, the retina of the right eye became detached. These afflictions required surgery and hospitalization and, of course, prevented petitioner from practicing law (R. 90, 111). Petitioner's troubles greatly disturbed Gail (R. 318) and she stated on several occasions that he might become blind and she wanted to help him. (R. 312, 92).

The will and the codicils were prepared by petitioner in his office, in the usual manner, following consultations with Miss Swan (R. 91 et. seq.) Her testa-

mentary intent was verified only by a medical and psychiatric examination conducted prior to her execution of the second codicil, which modified the will by substantially decreasing the earlier bequest to the petitioner. (R. 386).

Petitioner did not suggest independent legal advice be obtained before each testamentary instrument was signed. Whether Miss Swan had, or would have heeded, such advice at any time between the dates of the original will and the second codicil will probably never be known.

When Miss Swan gave petitioner her instructions about the changes to be made in the will by the second codicil, she asked to be examined by an "independent doctor" in order "to be sure . . . that the will cannot be contested" (R. 109). Her grandfather's will was contested. *In re Swan's Estate* (1918), 51 U. 410, 170 P. 452. Petitioner, therefore, made an appointment for her with Dr. A. M. Nielsen, and after some examination, Dr. Nielsen, upon his own initiative, asked a psychiatrist, Dr. Roy A. Darke, for consultative assistance (R. 294).

After about an hour's examination, during which the doctors questioned Miss Swan about the proposed disposition of her property, it was concluded that "she was mentally sound and certainly in the adult bracket" (R. 295). Dr. Darke concluded that Miss Swan "knew what she wanted to do" with her property and that "she did wish to do what she was saying she wanted to do with her property" (R. 286). The two doctors accordingly signed as witnesses to the codicil.

Fourteen months later, Miss Swan died without having made any additional changes in her testamentary disposition. The will was admitted to probate and, several months later, Theo Hendee instituted the will contest suit which culminated in the decision of this Court in the *Swan* case. In its decision, this Court held that the evidence showed that Miss Swan had testamentary capacity. In this respect, the decision reversed the judgment of the trial court.

Because of the relationship of lawyer-client which had existed between Mr. Macfarlane and Miss Swan, the Court held that his inclusion as a beneficiary in her will raised a presumption of fraud and undue influence and that the presumption thrust upon him the burden of persuasion—the burden of persuading the trier of the fact that he had not fraudulently imposed upon and influenced his client's mind.

In the will contest case, the trial court was not convinced that this burden had been carried and the Supreme Court, therefore, affirmed the decision and declared the bequest to the petitioner to be null and void.

The Trial Committee concluded that the presumption adopted by the Supreme Court in the *Swan* case "applies and is effective against the accused in this disciplinary proceeding." (R. 379).

When the Board of Commissioners of the Utah State Bar adopted this conclusion and recommended that peti-

tioner be disciplined by suspension from practice of the law for a period of one year, this petition for review followed.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT I

THE PRESUMPTION OF FRAUD AND UNDUE INFLUENCE, UTILIZED IN THE CIVIL WILL CONTEST LITIGATION, SHOULD NOT BE APPLIED IN A DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING.

### POINT II

EVEN IF SUCH PRESUMPTION COULD PROPERLY BE APPLIED IN A DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING, THE RECORD IN THIS CASE DOES NOT SUPPORT THE CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE BOARD OF BAR COMMISSIONERS SINCE THE RECORD REVEALS THE PRESUMPTION WAS CLEARLY REBUTTED.

### POINT III

THE MERE ACT OF A LAWYER IN DRAFTING A WILL BY WHICH HE MAY RECEIVE BENEFITS IS NOT UNPROFESSIONAL AND IS NOT PROSCRIBED NOR PROHIBITED BY ANY CANON OF ETHICS, WRITTEN OR UNWRITTEN, NOR BY ANY STATUTE, RULE OR DECISION OF THIS COURT. RULE OF THE UTAH STATE BAR OR THE AMERICAN BAR ASSOCIATION, AND SUCH ACT, STANDING ALONE, CANNOT SUPPORT A CHARGE OF UNPROFESSIONAL CONDUCT.

### POINT IV

EVEN IF THE ACTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS WERE OTHERWISE SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD, THE DISCIPLINE RECOMMENDED IS HARSH.

DISPROPORTIONATE AND EXCESSIVE, PARTICULARLY IN VIEW OF THE CENSURE ALREADY VISITED UPON THE PETITIONER DURING THE FIVE YEARS SINCE THE CIVIL WILL CONTEST CASE WAS TRIED AMID WIDE PUBLICITY.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE PRESUMPTION OF FRAUD AND UNDUE INFLUENCE, UTILIZED IN THE CIVIL WILL CONTEST LITIGATION, SHOULD NOT BE APPLIED IN A DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING.

This Court, in the *Swan* case, specifically disavowed any implication that its decision should enlarge the presumption to the stature or weight of evidence. Instead, it held that "a presumption is the assumption of a fact required by a rule of law from the establishment of another fact or group of facts. It is not the facts on which it is based nor the inference to be drawn therefrom, but a rule of law fixing the legal consequences thereof . . . This does not mean that the fact finder may consider or weigh the presumption as evidence." *In re Swan's Estate*, 293 P. 2d at page 690.

This careful distinction by the Court cannot be ignored. Particularly is this true where the Court further elaborated by emphasizing that neither the assumed fact nor the rule of law has "any tendency *in reason* to prove the existence of the presumed fact and, therefore, cannot be weighed as evidence thereof. . . ." (Emphasis added).

From the foregoing, it is abundantly clear that the presumption utilized in the *Swan* case cannot be substituted for evidence and cannot be considered as evidence. Its sole function in that case was to shift the burden of persuasion for the purposes of that case. That case is finally and completely adjudicated and public policy, which apparently dictated the use of the rule of law giving rise to the presumption, has been satisfied.

This is a new and substantially different proceeding. Except for the petitioner, the parties are completely different. Even the petitioner is here in a different role. In the former case, he was a legatee whose bequest was attacked by another legatee and nullified by the decision of the Court. In the present proceeding, he and his professional life, training and career are at stake, in a matter in which the parties are the Court and the Utah State Bar. By conducting this review, the Court is inquiring into the conduct of one of its officers. This fact alone distinguishes this proceeding from all that may have gone before.

As stated by the Court in "*In re Evans, et al.*" (Utah, 1913) 42 Utah 282, 130 P. 217, "Who are the parties to the disbarment proceeding? The petitioners on the one side; but who on the other? Certainly not the informant, nor Thomas Nelson. If there were another party, . . . it was the court; for the proceeding involved matters wholly between the court and the petitioners."

Since it is evident that this proceeding has nothing legally in common with the will contest case, and since

it must be recognized, in a disciplinary proceeding, that the power of a court is, practically, without limit, it is significant to note that at no time in the proceedings against the petitioner to date has either side been able to locate, or cite, any decision by any court holding that a presumption of fraud and undue influence is to be utilized in a disciplinary proceeding. Neither has there been found any authority upholding the discipline of an attorney upon a claimed presumption, or upon a record devoid of evidence or fact showing an evil act, a corrupt motive, or dishonest concealment.

It is submitted that the reason for this dearth of authority lies in the inherently different nature of a disciplinary proceeding. The courts have long recognized that the proceeding is unique. They have also recognized that in such a case there is a kind of "presumption of innocence" which inures to the benefit of the accused lawyer. See for example, 7 A.L.R. 93, in which there will be found an annotation entitled "Presumption of Innocence in Disbarment Proceedings." It is there stated that as a general rule the attorney has the benefit of a presumption of innocence when the true burden of proof is recognized.

The Supreme Court of Washington has stated the proposition well. It held, in *In re Little* 244 P. 2d 255, that the disciplinary proceeding "... is a special proceeding peculiar to itself ..." It then went on to say:

"The respondent in such a matter is, upon his admission to the Bar, certified by the Court to have attained high moral and professional standards. It is to be presumed that he has maintained them and has performed his duty as an officer of the Court in accordance with his oath. Every doubt should be resolved in his favor, and only upon a clear preponderance of the evidence that the acts charged have been done and were prompted by improper motives, should disciplinary action be taken. The privilege — and it is a privilege, not a right — to practice his profession cannot be lost to the practitioner upon slight evidence."

A somewhat similar thought has been expressed by this Court in "*In re Oliver*" 97 Utah 1, 89 P. 2d 229. In that case, the Court was considering the effect of one of the sections of the "Revised Rules of the Utah State Bar Governing Professional Conduct and Discipline." After recognizing that, as to a member of the Bar who has allowed his dues to lapse, the Bar may question his legal qualifications to resume membership, the Court pointed out that the lapse of time does not effect his standing as a morally qualified, but suspended, member of the Bar. The Court then went on to say:

"Naturally there is the disadvantage to this that the Bar must assume the burden of proving his lack of moral qualification: but this is in line with our accepted theory of trials. It far better, after a member has established his moral qualifications, as he does upon admission to the Bar, to presume that those qualifications remain with him until such time as they are taken away by



proper procedure, than to presume ill of him and to require him to overcome the last presumption."

A careful review of the decisions of this Court in disciplinary proceedings fails to reveal a single instance where a presumption was either urged or utilized as a basis for disciplinary action. Instead, the clear import of the decisions is that evidence is required, it must be substantial and convincing in its nature, and nothing less than evidence will suffice.

For example, in "*In re McCullough*" 97 Utah 533, 95 P.2d 13, the Court was asked to draw inferences from a series of facts which, as contended by the prosecution, showed that solicitation of business by one Spencer was at the direction of or with the knowledge of the accused. After examining the record, the Court found that there were "rumors" and a suspicion of "ambulance chasing." The Court concluded, however, that there had been no instance of solicitation shown "by clear and convincing evidence." In a further discussion of the evidence, the Court remarked, on this phase of that case, "our attention has been called to no instance in which an attorney was suspended or disbarred on such meager evidence of solicitation through a runner."

For centuries, it has been universally recognized that the court has had power to exercise rigid control over the professional conduct of members of the legal profession. As pointed out by Judge Cardozo in *People v. Calkin*, 248 N.Y. 465, 162 N.E. 487, in very early days

in England the court regulated the conduct of barristers "with minute particularity, even in matters so personal as the growth of their beards or the cut of their dress."

The courts of this country are not shown by the decisions to have wielded their power of control to this extent. It was recognized early that the power to disbar ". . . is not an arbitrary and despotic one . . . but it is the duty of the court to exercise and regulate it by a sound and just judicial discretion . . ." *Ex parte Seacombe*, 60 U. S. 9, 15 L. Ed. 565.

As stated by the Supreme Court of Illinois, in the case of *In re Donaghy*, 402 Ill. 120, 83 N.E. 2d 560,

"The disbarment of an attorney is the destruction of his professional life, his character, and his livelihood. (citing cases) The court should, therefore, disbar in moderation. Likewise, the same considerations obtain in the application of a suspension rule. A removal of an attorney from practice . . . entails the complete loss of a clientele with its consequent uphill road of patient waiting to again re-establish himself in the eyes of the public, in the good graces of the courts and his fellow lawyers."

This Court, in harmony with the great weight of authority, has long recognized that a disciplinary action is of such serious nature and consequence to the accused that its power should be exercised only upon the basis of "convincing proof." *In re Hanson* (Utah, 1916) 158 P. 778, 48 Utah 167.

In that case, after discussing other elements in a disciplinary proceeding (in which discussion there is no mention of a "presumption") the Court said:

"The foregoing statements really contain the whole gist of the law, which is sustained by both reason and common sense. To disbar an attorney is a very serious matter indeed. It not only may deprive him of gaining a livelihood for himself and a dependent family, but it may, and usually does, result in preventing him from making available all antecedent preparation, although that may cover practically the period of a lifetime. In no other calling are such far-reaching consequences visited upon a delinquent who has not been found guilty of some felonious act. The rule, therefore, that the evidence should be clear and convincing is based upon a most solid foundation."

No such "solid foundation" supports the abortive use of the presumption of fraud in the present inquiry. It has no basis in social or legal history. It cannot be supported upon the basis of reason or logic because, as stated by the Court in the *Swan* case, neither the facts nor the rule of law involved in the presumption "have any tendency in reason to prove the existence of the presumed fact and, therefore, cannot be weighed as evidence thereof . . ."

In accord with this principle is the decision of the New York court in "*In re Spencer*," 201 N.Y. Supp. 315, 206 App. Div. 806. Spencer was accused, in a total of nine charges, of violating the code of ethics. In one count

he was charged with having procured by misconduct, fraud and dishonesty, two real estate mortgages from his client and thereafter, procuring the assignment thereof to his wife, at a time when his client was incompetent to transact business. The assignments were drawn by him in his client's bedroom, when he and she were alone.

As to this count, the court said:

"There may be, and probably is, a presumption against the validity of this transaction, and if it were brought in question by persons interested in . . . the estate, and who were prejudiced by it, very likely the burden would be cast upon respondent to show that the transaction was free from fraud and undue influence on his part. It does not appear that the transaction has been questioned by those persons. If respondent's testimony in this proceeding is accepted, the transaction was honest and straightforward. There was an opportunity and motive for respondent to take advantage of Miss Sharp's enfeebled condition; whether he did or not, no one living knows. *In a proceeding of this character, I do not think it can be found as a fact that he did.* (Emphasis added)

This is but another way of stating that a presumption of fraud, which arbitrarily arises from the nature of the confidential relationship, will not be accepted as a substitute for proof, or as satisfactory proof upon which to predicate the discipline of an attorney.

To our knowledge, no court has ever indulged in such a presumption or assumption during a disciplinary

proceeding involving circumstances such as are present here. Instead, the courts have recognized the punitive nature of the proceeding and have drawn inferences in favor of, and not against, the accused.

For example, more than sixty years ago the Supreme Court of California in a disciplinary proceeding entitled "*In re Haymond*" 53 P. 899, ruled that "... all intendments are in favor of the accused." The same rule, expressed in different language, is found in later California cases. In *Browne v. State Bar of California* (1955) 287 P.2d 745, the court held "... Any reasonable doubts must be resolved in favor of the accused". To the same effect is the earlier California case of *Hildebrand v. State Bar of California*, 117 P.2d 860.

In view of the nature of this proceeding, and in the light of the legal principles and authorities already mentioned, petitioner earnestly contends that the Board of Commissioners of the Utah State Bar committed manifest error in adopting the conclusion of its Trial Committee that "the presumption mentioned by the Supreme Court" in the *Swan* case "applies and is effective against the accused in this disciplinary proceeding." The Board then compounded the error by recommending discipline against the petitioner upon the basis of this mere presumption, which arose from a rule of law, utilized in private civil litigation, at a time when, and under circumstances in which, none of the considerations which are now before this Court were present.

## POINT II

EVEN IF SUCH PRESUMPTION COULD PROPERLY BE APPLIED IN A DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING, THE RECORD IN THIS CASE DOES NOT SUPPORT THE CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE BOARD OF BAR COMMISSIONERS SINCE THE RECORD REVEALS THE PRESUMPTION WAS CLEARLY REBUTTED.

The Prosecuting Committee has repeatedly conceded that it must fail in this prosecution, if the presumption of fraud is not utilized, because it has no extrinsic evidence of fraud or undue influence upon which to rely.

A careful examination of the record reveals the necessity for this concession. No fact was ever brought before the Trial Committee, or the Board of Commissioners, which tended to show any act of fraud or influence upon the part of the petitioner.

Not for a moment do we concede that the presumption of fraud and undue influence, utilized in the *Swan* case, should be applied here. We confess our inability to understand how it is even possible of application in a disciplinary proceeding where the evidence presented against an attorney must be "clear and convincing" and his guilt must be "clearly established." *In re McCullough*, 97 Utah 533, 95 P.2d 13.

To apply the presumption here is to relieve the prosecution of this recognized burden of proof and, in-

stead, to place it upon the accused, under circumstances where neither he, nor the Bar, can know from judicial precedent the extent of the proof required to overcome it.

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