1959

In Re Grant MacFarlane, Sr. : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

As was noted in the oral arguments before the hearing committee (R. 356), the Supreme Court has already concluded in the will contest case that there has been a civil fraud committed by an attorney against his client. The basic question to be here decided is whether an attorney who has committed a civil fraud against his client should be disciplined. In reaching the conclusion that a civil wrong had been committed, the Supreme Court has said in the will contest case that it could not so hold on the facts adduced without the aid of a presumption of fraud.

No new evidence has been introduced, nor was there any other evidence available to the prosecuting committee. At the outset, we suppose it must be determined what effect the court should give to previous civil determination that a fraud has been committed. We do not contend that this is controlled by the procedures in cases where an attorney is convicted of a felony in a separate criminal case, but the distinction we seek to make here can be demonstrated by reference to the procedures in a felony case. After an attorney is convicted of a felony in a criminal case, discipline automatically follows. The court does not go behind the verdict to re-examine the facts to see how the conviction resulted. It accepts the prior judicial determination of guilt. It is sufficient that the attorney has been tried and convicted.

In this case the defendant was charged in a civil suit with having defrauded his client and after an exhaustive

trial and an appeal to this court, it has now been finally adjudged that the defendant did defraud his client. The property which he sought to obtain by reason of the fraud was taken from him. Query: Does this adjudged fact that he has perpetrated a civil fraud against his client by itself justify disciplinary action; if not will this fact be considered at all; or will the court disregard the civil trial and the facts therein adjudicated and hear the matter anew?

It does present a somewhat anomalous situation if the defendant can be adjudged in a contested civil suit to have been guilty of fraud against his client and in a disbarment proceeding based on the same facts can be held not to be guilty of any fraud, but to be clean as a hound's tooth and immune from discipline. If the matter is to be considered anew, and the presumption of fraud which was raised in the civil suit can not be raised in the disbarment proceedings, of course, this end result might well be reached. The general public is then told on the one hand that there is ample evidence to support the trial court's finding that the petitioner defrauded his client in the civil suit but in the disbarment proceeding where the same facts are reviewed again, and the court concludes (because it can not consider the presumption) that there was no fraud and the attorney's conduct was entirely proper.

As is pointed out in more detail by the authorities cited below, the Supreme Court, by licensing a lawyer, recommends the lawyer to the public as morally qualified to represent clients in matters involving the highest trust

and confidence. If we are to carry the argument made by the accused here into effect, we certainly can not help but shake the confidence of the public in the entire legal profession. In the civil case this court has already held that the evidence, aided by the presumption, amply supported the trial court's finding of fraud by an attorney in regard to the affairs of his client. The same evidence is again before the court for review. Through the application of a legal nicety, the accused urges the court to hold that his conduct was entirely proper, that what he did to his client was without fault, that he should be given a clean bill of health and this court should continue to recommend him to the public as in every way worthy of their trust and confidence.

If the court accepts this argument here, it tells the public that there is some technicality in the law which will permit the court to raise a presumption of fraud to protect a client who has been imposed upon, but that the law will not permit the court to raise the same presumption to protect the public against future misconduct; that the public should accept the high court's recommendation of the lawyer as a man of the highest integrity, although the court has already held that the evidence in the civil suit amply supports a finding that he defrauded his client. Notwithstanding this adjudicated fact of fraud, the court must now find from the same evidence that his conduct was entirely proper, that he should not be disciplined at all, and that the court should hold him out to the public without censure or criticism as a man worthy of the highest trust and confidence from his clients. Such

an anomalous result ought not to be permitted by the law, and when one examines the true nature of the right to practice law and the true nature of a disbarment proceeding, we submit that there is no reason why the presumption can not or should not be raised in a disbarment proceeding.

If the effect of the civil suit is to be disregarded, and the evidence is to be reviewed anew in the disbarment proceedings, then the issue of law as to whether the presumption will be raised becomes a vital consideration.

Our brief is primarily directed to that point. We desire, however, to note that the presumption does not stand alone. It is raised for the very practical reason that generally only the attorney and the client participated in the conferences and they and only they know what happened. In this case the client is dead, and if there were no presumption, fraud could seldom be proved. In a civil suit where facts which in and of themselves lay a suspicion of fraud at the door of the accused are proved, this places upon him the burden of coming forward to convince the trier of the fact that no fraud was involved. The same difficulty of proof exists in a disbarment proceeding as exists in a civil action. The difficulties of finding evidence are equally great. The circumstances raising the suspicion of fraud are the same, and there is much common sense in placing the same burden of explanation on the accused.

We emphasize that the presumption need not and does not stand alone. There are facts undisputably proved showing that the accused was dealing with a client who

was mentally retarded. He was told by her sister that the family was looking to the accused to protect her interests. (R. 30) During her lifetime, he was the recipient of various substantial gifts (R. 63-74) and he knew that his client, who was mentally retarded, was making like gifts to Mr. Kostopulos, who according to the finding of the court, was guilty of fraud and undue influence. Finally, the accused did draft a will which made him a major beneficiary. He did so, even though near that very time he was being charged in another suit with improper conduct in drafting a will for another client which also named him as a major beneficiary. He must have seen a sufficient problem concerning the testamentary capacity of his client in this case to warrant taking her to a doctor. The doctor called in a psychiatrist and thereafter the will was executed. Certainly the defendant ought to have the burden of explaining his conduct and this burden can only be placed upon him by raising a presumption which will shift the risk of persuasion.

We have divided our discussion of this presumption into three parts.

We first refer to the Utah cases concerning the nature of the right or privilege of practicing law. Since the practice of law is a privilege and not a right, and since the purpose of disbarment proceedings is to purify the Bar—not to punish—we think there is reason for raising the presumption of fraud in a disbarment proceeding. We secondly examine the nature of the presumption itself; and finally cite the authorities which permit the presumption of fraud to be considered in a disbarment proceeding.

I. NATURE OF DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDINGS BY THE BAR COMMISSION:

A. *History of the Right to Practice Law:*

The right to practice law is a special privilege which is held during the good behavior of the person so licensed. Members of the legal profession are charged with a particularly high moral and ethical responsibility because they receive the confidences of the public. Lawyers are disciplined or disbarred if at any time it seems that their character is such that it does not completely justify the confidence and trust that the public must place in them.

Much has been said and written about the nature of the right to practice law. It is not a property right, nor is it a privilege under the privileges and immunities clause of the Federal Constitution. The Utah case of *Rucknbrod v. Mullins*, 102 Utah 548, considered the attorney's duty to defend indigent persons charged with criminal acts. That case gives a rather comprehensive history of the legal profession and the nature of the right to practice law. Since this subject is of considerable importance in the instant proceeding, extensive quotes from that case might be helpful. The *Rucknbrod* case, in turn, quotes heavily from other sources and these quotations are included in the following excerpts:

“The majority of jurisdictions hold that an attorney is an officer of the court with many rights and privileges, and must accept his office cum onere.”

“* * * Historically there can be little doubt that the attorney who represented a client before the courts did enjoy special rights and privileges. The historical growth of the right of an attorney to practice before the common law courts in England is developed by the Supreme Court of Illinois in the case of *In re Day, et al*, 181 Ill. 73, 54 NE 646, 649, 50 LRA 519, the court there said:

‘Originally, no one could appear by attorney without the special warrant of the king, issuing out of chancery or under seal, granting the privilege. The king was considered the fountain of justice, and, as he could not in person decide all controversies and remedy all wrongs, the injured parties were referred to the proper forum, and writs were framed in his name to his judges. Suits were begun in that way, and when he granted the privileges in question it was as a part of that system, and not in a legislative capacity. In a civilized country, where the rights of persons were to be determined in accordance with established rules, either statutory or promulgated by the courts, the employment of persons acquainted with those rules became a necessity, both to the parties and the court. Persons unlearned in the law can neither aid a litigant nor the court, and parliament, at different times, extended the right of the litigant to appoint an attorney to represent him in court. Maugh, Attys. Append. 6, 7. In 1292, Edward I made an order by which he appointed the lord chief justice of the court of common pleas and the rest of his fellow justices of that court, that they, according to their discretion, should provide and ordain from every county certain attorneys and apprentices of the best and most apt for their learning and skill, who might do service to his court and people, and

those so chosen only, and no other, should follow his court and transact the affairs thereof; the said king and his council then deeming the number of seven score to be sufficient for that employment, but it was left to the discretion of the said justices to add to that number or diminish it, as they should see fit. 7 Pol. & M. His. Eng. Law, 194; Dugd. Orig. J. 141. The profession of attorney was placed under the control of the judges, and the discretion to examine applicants as to their learning and qualifications, and to admit to practice, was exercised from that day by the judicial department of the English government, and no legislation sought to deprive the court of the power in that respect, or to invest it in any other branch of the government.'

"The court in some detail then discussed the various early English Statutes relating to admission to practice; the function of the Inns of Court; and the role of "solicitors" and "barristers"; and concluded that:

'The function of determining whether one who seeks to become an officer of the courts, and to conduct causes therein is sufficiently acquainted with the rules established by the legislature and the courts, governing the rights of parties and under which justice is administered, pertains to the courts themselves. * * * The order of requisite qualifications, under such restrictions and limitations as may be properly imposed by the legislature for the protection and welfare of the public. The fact that the legislature may prescribe the qualifications of doctors, plumbers, horseshoers, and persons following other professions or callings; not connected with the judicial system, and may say what shall be

evidenced of such qualifications, can have no influence on this question. A license to such persons confers no right to put the judicial power in motion or to participate in judicial proceedings. The attorney is a necessary part of the judicial system, and his vocation is not merely to find persons who are willing to have lawsuits. He is the first one to sit in judgment on every case, and whether the court shall be called upon to act depends on his decision.' * * *

'The courts of the King's Bench and Common Pleas had from the first, each admitted its own staff of attorneys and the Exchequer seems to have had a staff of clerks who acted as attorneys. No doubt the same persons often acted as attorneys both in the Common Pleas and in the King's Bench — this is shown by an order of 1564, which attempted in vain to suppress this practice. But it is obvious that the necessity for separate admission in each court emphasized the fact that attorneys were the officers of that court; and the same fact was still further emphasized by orders for their constant attendance in their respective courts, and by their possession of the same privileges of exception from public service, and immunity from suit, except in their own court, as the other officials of the various courts enjoyed.'

"* * * In *People v. Culkin*, 248 NY 465, 162 NE 487, 490 60 ALR 851, Ch. J. Chardozo traces the history of the power of the courts to make general inquiries into the conduct of its own officers, the members of the bar, *and concludes that at a very early date the courts exercised rigid control over the professional conduct of members of the legal profession.* He states:

‘Thus by Section I of an order made in Michaelmas Term 1654 by the Court of Pleas, as well as by a like order of the Court of Upper or King’s Bench, attorneys were required to give notice of their chambers of habitations “under pain of being put off the roll”; no one under like penalty was to practice in another’s name, nor was anyone knowingly to permit another to practice in his name, excepting in warrants of attorney for common recoveries “for the prevention of maintenance and brocage, no attorney was to be lessee in an ejectment nor bail for a defendant in this court in any action.” Cooke’s Rules, Orders and Notices of the Courts of Common Pleas and King’s Bench, Michaelmas Term, 1654.’

“Such duties and others are placed upon attorneys on the theory that attorneys are officers of the court. In speaking of these duties Cardozo further says in *People v. Culkin*, *supra* :

‘Membership in the bar is a privilege burdened with conditions. *In re Rouss*, *supra*, 221 NY (81), page 84, 116 NE (782), 783. The appellaut was received into that ancient fellowship for something more than private gain. He became an officer of the court, and like the court itself, an instrument or agency to advance the ends of justice. His cooperation with the court was due, whenever justice would be imperiled if cooperation was withheld. He might be assigned as counsel for the needy, in causes criminal or civil, serving without pay. Code Crim. Proc. § 308; Civil Practice Acts, §196, 198. He might be directed by summary order to make restitution to a client of moneys or other property wrongfully withheld. *In re H.*.....87 NY 521.

He might be censured, suspended, or disbarred for "any conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice." Judiciary Law, §88, Subd. 2. All this is undisputed.'

"The present status of the attorney in our judicial system has been a result of historical development which dates back for some seven centuries. Regardless of what may have happened in some jurisdictions to the rights and privileges of attorneys, the right to practice before the court as an officer of the court, still remains. While doctors, plumbers, electricians, barbers, etc., may sell their time and skill to the public by virtue of their license from the state, the attorney alone has the right to set the judicial machinery in motion in behalf of another and to thus participate as an officer of the court in a judicial proceeding. This right springs from his status as an officer of the court. To properly function it is necessary that courts retain control of their officers. The attorney's part has developed until he now is a necessary and essential part of our judicial machinery.

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